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Cliff Nale 
Washington State Department of Ecology 
15700 Dayton Avenue North 
Shoreline, Washington 98133 

Re: Holly Street Landfill Site (Ecology Facility ID 2925; Cleanup Site ID 253) 
Old Town Village Redevelopment - 707 and 711 Astor Street 
Contaminated Materials Management Plan 

Dear Cliff, 

This letter provides follow-up information supplemental to our pre-construction notice submitted to 
you back in January. This letter documents the Contaminated Materials Management Plan (Plan) 
being used by Dawson Construction, Capron LLC and Old Town Village LLC during planned 
redevelopment at 707 and 711 Astor Street (the Property) in Bellingham, Washington.  

The Property is located within a portion of the Holly Street Landfill site (Washington Department of 
Ecology Facility ID 2925; Cleanup Site ID 253) and is subject to existing restrictive covenants. The 
Covenants contain certain restrictions on redevelopment and associated construction practices in 
accordance with the Model Toxics Control Act Consent Decree No. 03-2-02164-1 filed for the Site in 
2003 after execution with Ecology. As noted in our January Pre-Construction Notice 1 the Property 
redevelopment will comply fully with the restrictive covenants. For reference, the restrictive 
covenants are attached to this letter report.  

Contaminated Soil Management 
The planned project includes a net fill of the Property. However, some construction activities to be 
performed will generate up to 1,000 cubic yards of soil requiring appropriate characterization and 
management (Figure 1). These include the following:  

• Limited excavation for installation of the building’s footers and foundation elements 
• Soil excavated from utility trenching 
• Soil excavated from future landscape areas 
• Potential excess soils from installation of stone column ground improvement  

Most earthwork will be performed using an excavator or other standard earthwork equipment. The 
stone columns will be placed using a driven rotary-style rig and are not expected to generate 

 
1 Anchor QEA, 2025. Letter to: Clifford Nale (Washington State Department of Ecology). Regarding: Notice of Proposed Construction 

– 707 & 711 Astor Street. January 23, 2025. 
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significant excess soil. Soil excavations will not extend below the groundwater table; therefore, 
excavation dewatering will not be required. 

Prior environmental testing as performed by Anchor QEA did not identify the presence of any 
potential hazardous or dangerous wastes. Contaminants identified in soil included heavy metals, low-
level petroleum contamination and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) compounds, consistent 
with the known contaminants present at the Holly Street Landfill site. Additional testing will be 
conducted as part of final soil profiling activities as needed to support final soil profiling and disposal 
planning.   

Soils to be exported will be placed in covered stockpiles, placed in roll-off boxes or will be direct 
loaded into trucks for off-site transport and disposal. The soils will be transported either to the 
Heidelberg Materials facility in Everett, Washington or to a permitted Subtitle D disposal facility 
depending on the characterization of the soils. No soils will be disposed of within any other portions 
of the Holly Street Landfill site.  

Some asphalt and concrete pavements will require removal as part of construction activities. These 
materials, when separated from potential contaminated soils, are not considered contaminated 
media and will be transported off site for recycling or disposal at appropriately-permitted 
commercial recycling or disposal facilities.  

Site Backfill and Capping 
After excavation is complete and prior to backfill, existing Site soils will be covered with a geotextile 
separation fabric in accordance with the methods described in our January pre-construction notice. 
Only clean imported soils will be placed above the geotextile separation fabric. These actions are 
intended to provide a clean working surface for building construction and to isolate any remaining 
subsurface contaminated soils beneath an easily identifiable separation fabric in the event of future 
excavation on this Site.  

Stormwater Management – Application of Zero Discharge Methods 
Construction stormwater management for ground disturbing activities during the redevelopment will 
utilize zero discharge methods to prevent potential discharge of site pollutants to surface water. 
Run-on and run-off controls will be installed to isolate the areas of ground disturbance where 
contact with potentially contaminated soil could occur.  

Stormwater generated from soil disturbance areas with potentially-contaminated soils will be 
collected and stored on-site and will be infiltrated to the extent practicable. Any excess stormwater 
will be collected for off-site treatment and disposal using an appropriately-permitted commercial 
hauler such as Mar-Vac.  
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Zero discharge stormwater management practices will be continued until potentially contaminated 
soil areas have been capped and excavated contaminated soils have been removed from the 
Property. Construction stormwater management practices throughout the remaining phases of 
construction will comply with applicable City of Bellingham and applicable Ecology requirements.  

 

 

If you have any questions regarding the elements of this Plan, please reach out to me directly.  

Sincerely, 

 

Derek Ormerod, PE, P.Eng. 
Principal Engineer 

cc: Natalie Smith and Pete Dawson, Dawson Construction 
Mark Larsen and Jane Gregg, Anchor QEA 

Attachment 
Figure 1 Site Map 
Attachment 1 Holly Street Landfill Restrictive Covenant 
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FIGURE 1- SITE PLAN 
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